1967

The State of Utah v. Verl Farnsworth : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF NATURE OF CASE

This is an appeal from a jury verdict of guilty to assault by a convict without malice aforethought with a deadly weapon, a lesser included offense of the crime of assault by a convict with malice aforethought.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The jury found the defendant guilty of assault by a convict without malice, a lesser included offense. He was sentenced to a further indeterminate term in the Utah State Prison.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks a reversal of the jury verdict, or in the alternative, to grant him a new trial with instructions in accordance with the points raised on appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The appellant, Steven A. Ireland, is an inmate of the Utah State Prison having been committed by the Honorable Joseph E. Nelson of the Fourth Judicial District on January 28, 1966. Mr. Ireland had entered a plea of guilty to the charge of Burglary in the Second Degree.

(T-16)

On April 1, 1966, appellant was housed at the prison in the segregation unit, B-North, (T-16) along with several other convicts, including Michael Patrick Jones. At approximately 11:00 a.m. the appellant, Ireland, was in the officer's walkway playing chess with inmate Jones, through the bars. (T-122)

Joy Jones, a guard assigned to B-North, walked the length of the officer's walkway, passed the appellant and delivered something to another prisoner. On his return he made contact with Ireland in the area of his shoulder. This contact was variously described as "gigged" (T-118) or goosed or pushed or hit. (T-147) Ireland whirled around and hit guard Jones, once with his hand or fist, knocking him to the ground. (T-149)

Ireland, then, grabbed guard Jones who was yelling and told him to be quiet that he had a razor blade. Ireland threw guard Jones against the bars and told inmate Mike Jones, "Come hold him while I get this straightened out, because I'm in trouble. I'm going out to talk to Moss." (T-147) He was referring to the head guard, William Robert Moss. Ireland denies, however, that he did, in fact, have such a razor blade. (T-148)

The appellant, Ireland, then apparently walked down the officer's walkway to the head of the tier where

he encountered Officer Moss who upon entering noticed a door open that should not have been. (T-142) He saw inmate Jones with his arms through the bars holding Officer Jones by the shoulders, (T-42) with his back toward the bars or grating. There is conflict as to whether Ireland jumped out and struck Moss (T-42, 3) or whether a fight just erupted. (T-148) In any event, a knock down, dragout fight ensued between Moss and Ireland during which Ireland made a statement to the effect that inmate Jones had Officer Jones back in the barrack with a razor at his throat. (T-43) In time, Officer Moss subdued the appellant, using his flats, a broom handle, a metal water pitcher and his teeth and forced him back into his cell with Ireland apparently being the worse for the experience. Other officers were called and apparently inmate Jones released Officer Jones from his grasp.

There was no direct evidence presented indicating

that a razor had in fact been used on Officer Jones, although razor blades were said to have been available. There was testimony of a medical technician who observed a small hairline scrape or cut on the left side of Jones' neck. (T-75) State's Exhibit #1 portrays that scrape or cut. The appellant, however, had made a statement to the effect that inmate Jones had Officer Jones back in the corner with a razor at his throat. There, further, was no evidence presented showing that any more than one blow was made on the person of Officer Joy Jones by either the appellant or inmate Jones.

After the State had rested, the District Attorney moved to amend the Information striking the words "and William Moss," and the plural "guards" and substituting the singular "guard." The motion was granted. (T-102, 3)

The jury retired to deliberate at 4:18 p. m. (T-124) At 6:09 p. m. they returned to the courtroom asking for further instructions. Specifically, the foreman asked

for the court's ruling on whether a fist is considered a deadly weapon. The court directed the jurors attention to Instruction No. 11 defining assault. In his explanation the court indicated, by a threatening gesture with his fist, that a fist could be a deadly weapon within the meaning of the instruction. Mr. Mitsunaga excepted to the court's instruction and the inference inherent in the court's demonstration that a fist might be an instrument which could fall within the definition of the information. He was overruled.

The jury retired at 6:17 p.m. They returned at 9:00 p.m. with a verdict of guilty of assault by a convict without malice aforethought, an included offense.

ARGUMENT

Point I

THE TRIAL JUDGE ERRED IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY THAT A FIST COULD BE A DEADLY WEAPON AS ALLEGED IN THE INFORMATION.

It is submitted that a fist as used by the appellant in this case is incapable as a matter of law of being a deadly weapon or instrument within the meaning of Section 76-7-11 and 12 Utah Code Annotated 1953 as amended.

As a general rule the term deadly weapon or instrument as used in statutes defining aggravated assaults includes instruments, other than parts of the body, which by their use are likely to produce great bodily harm or death. Words and Phrases, Vol. 11 Deadly Weapon p. 129

In an early A. L. R. Annotation the question of "Kicking as an Aggravated Assault or an Assault with a Deadly Weapon," was explored. 33 A. L. R. 1186 The cases therein cited indicate that normally a foot or fist is not a deadly weapon. Warren v. State, 88 Ark. 322, 114 S. W. 706 (1908), held that a man's foot covered by an ordinary shoe could not as a matter of law be a "deadly weapon. Citing the Warren case, Wilson v. State, 162

K. 1972, 258 S. W. 2d 972 (1924) held that striking with a fist could not be an assault with a deadly weapon sufficient to constitute an aggravated assault.

Hands and feet were held not to be "deadly weapons" within the meaning of a statute relative to assault with deadly weapons with intent to kill in McIntosh v. Commonwealth, 120 S. W. 2d 1001. The Kentucky Court ruled that a person's hands or feet are not 'deadly weapons' within the meaning of the law, and where death results unintentionally from their use in an assault, the result is not murder but involuntary manslaughter.

A few courts, however, forced with particularly brutal assaults with feet or fists have created an exception to the general rule. The Washington Court in State v. Smith, 33 P. 2d 749 (1938) held that "fists," though not generally a "deadly weapon," may become deadly by blows often repeated, long continued, and applied to vital and delicate parts of the body of a defense-

-2-

less, unresisting man. (Emphasis added)

The California Court adopted this approach in People v. Lantz, 120 Cal. App. 2d 787, 262 P.2d 19 (1953). Therein, they upheld the conviction of a jailor who had brutally beaten and kicked three prisoners under his care.

In Stice v. State, 228, Ind. 144, 89 N.E.2d 913, (1950) the court said that notwithstanding the fact that a fist is not normally a deadly weapon, the fist of an ex-prize fighter, "One Round Muldoon" which was used to brutally batter the face and ultimately kill a forty-six year old woman was used in such a manner as to constitute a deadly weapon.

In State v. Gillespie, 356 S.W. 2d 667, fists used in a violent and aggravated assault were held to fall within the Missouri statute defining aggravated assault. It should be noted, however, that the Missouri statute defines the crime as the use of a deadly weapon or any other

means of force likely to produce death or great bodily harm."

It is submitted that the present case does not fall within the exception as outlined above, but rather falls within the general rule that a fist as it was used by the appellant in this case is incapable, as a matter of law, of being a deadly weapon.

In the present case, the appellant was charged by the amended information with being a convict in the Utah State Prison, who with malice aforethought, committed an assault, upon Joy Jones, a guard at said prison, with a deadly weapon, particularly a razor blade. (T-8)

The only evidence presented in regard to a fist being used by the appellant on Joy Jones was that the appellant turned on the guard when gipped in the shoulder from behind and slugged him, possibly knocking him to the ground. There is no evidence that the blow caused any real damage to the person of Officer Jones, although he

did complain of pain in his jaw and some swelling was observed. (T-86)

It is submitted that there is not sufficient evidence of blows "often repeated, long continued, and applied to the vital and delicate parts of the body of a defenseless unresisting man." There is no evidence of any brutal, vicious assault. There is no evidence that the appellant's "fists" were used in any manner sufficient as a matter of law to justify an instruction that such a fist could be "a deadly weapon" within the meaning of the statute, nor is there justification for an intimation from the court that it might be.

It might be argued by the State that Section 76-7-11 and 12 Utah Code Annotated 1953 as amended contains in addition to the terms "deadly weapon or instrument," the term "by means of force" in defining the crimes charged. The argument would follow that the case then should fall within the rule of the Gillespie case supra

which held that a fist was a deadly weapon within the meaning of a similar statute. It is submitted, however, that the term "by means of force" was not alleged in the Information (T-8) and was stricken from the Instructions of the court. (T-41-47-50) The very presence of the term "by means of force" seems to indicate the intent of the Legislature to limit the meanings of "deadly weapon or instrument" to that other than the ordinary fist. In view of this distinction as well as the lack of brutal, vicious force, it is asserted that the Gillespie exception should not be applied, but rather the general rule excluding the fist as a deadly weapon or instrument should be determinative.

CONCLUSION

Appellant submits that he was prejudiced by the trial judge's intimation that a fist might properly be a deadly weapon under the facts as presented by the State. It is evident that his conviction arose directly from that

intimation which was incorrect as a matter of law.