1967

# The State of Utah v. Verl Farnsworth : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a jury verdict of guilty to assault by a convict upon another convict with a deadly weapon, without malice aforethought, as a lesser included offense in the crime of assault by a convict upon another convict with a deadly weapon with malice aforethought.

### DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The jury found the appellant guilty of assault by a convict upon another convict, with a deadly weapon without malice aforethought, in violation of U.C.A. 76-7-11 (Supp. 1967). He was sentenced to

a further indeterminate term in the Utah State Prison, as provided by law.

## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Respondent requests that the judgment of the trial court be affirmed.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Respondent accepts the facts as stated in appellant's brief with the following exceptions and additions.

Drue Hunt Ross, a medical examiner at the Utah State Prison, testified that he examined prison guard Jay Jones immediately after the altercation and that in his opinion the wound on Jones' neck was caused by a sharp instrument and that the injury could have been caused by a safety razor (T. 77).

Glen M. Gardiner testified that while on duty at the Utah State Prison as a custodial officer, he was called on an emergency at approximately 11:30 a.m., April 1, 1967. In response to the question, "When you got to the cell block, will you tell us what occurred?" Mr. Gardiner testified (while referring to a diagram of the prison area involved):

I started to open this door, and Ireland stated, "Don't come in this corridor, or I will kill him."

Q. Now, where was this is Officer Jones, you say?

A. Officer Jones.

Q. And they were approximately mid-way area; is that correct?

A. Approximately, right in this area.

Q. And how was he holding him?

A. He had his left arm around his waist and his right arm around his right shoulder holding an object to the left side of his throat.

Q. Did you see that object?

A. I asked Ireland what he would like to do, and he said to go down, send one officer through the corridor to open this door and he would go into his cell and turn Officer Jones loose (T. 90).

\* \* \* \* \*

Q. Okay, when you walked down the corridor, did you observe anything?

A. I observed a razor in Ireland's hands.

Q. And where did he have that razor or where was his hand located?

A. His hand was around his right shoulder, and he was holding the razor to the left side of his throat (T. 91).

Mr. Gardiner concluded by testifying that Ireland took guard Jones to inmate Jones' cell where inmate Jones held him until Ireland could get back to his cell (T. 91).

## ARGUMENT

## POINT I

THE EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT FOR THE JURY TO FIND THAT THE APPELLANT COMMITTED ASSAULT WITH A DEADLY WEAPON UPON A GUARD WITHOUT MALICE AFORETHOUGHT.

The testimony of Glen M. Gardiner established evidence from which the jury could find that the appellant did, in fact, hold a razor blade to the throat of Joy Jones.

Instruction No. 1 (R. 42) charged the defendant, Steven A. Ireland, as follows:

That on or about the 1st day of April, 1967, at the County of Salt Lake, State of Utah, the said Mike Patrick Jones and Steven A. Ireland, being convicts in the Utah State Prison, with malice aforethought, committed an assault upon Jay Jones, guard at said prison, with deadly weapon, **particularly a razor blade.** (Emphasis added.)

In instruction No. 10 (R. 48) the jury was told:

A "deadly weapon" or "instrument" is an object, instrument, or weapon, which used in the manner in which it appears to have been used, is capable of producing, and is likely to produce death or great bodily injury.

A "deadly weapon" is such a weapon or instrument as is made and designed for offensive or defensive purposes, or for the destruction of life or the inflicting of injury. **Acers v. United States**, 164 U.S. 388 (1895)



It is one likely to produce death or great bodily harm. **People v. Fisher**, 44 Cal.Rptr. 302, 234 C.A.2d 189 (1965); **Solitto v. State**, Fla.App., 165 So.2d 223 (1964)

A deadly weapon is one which from the manner used is calculated or likely to produce death or serious bodily injury. **People v. Tophia**, 167 C.A.2d 39, 334 P.2d 133 (1959)

It is any weapon dangerous to life, or with which death may be easily and readily produced from the manner in which it is used. **Williams v. State**, 251 Ala. 397, 39 So.2d 37 (1948); **Armijo v. People**, 134 Colo. 344, 304 P.2d 633 (1956).

A razor has been defined as:

An article of common domestic use, and while no one could be held guilty of the offense of carrying a dangerous and deadly weapon concealed about his person, simply because he so carried a razor, yet if surrounding circumstances would tend to show that he carried it as a weapon of offense, he might become liable to the charge, because a razor, when thus used, is notoriously a weapon dangerous to life. Ballentine, Law Dictionary with Pronunciations, P. 1088, (2nd ed. 1948); citing **Brown v. State**, 105 Misc. 367, 62 So. 353 (1913).

In **Williams v. Commonwealth**, 304 Ky 761, 202 S.W. 2d 408 (1947) the defendant was accused of carrying a razor concealed on his person. The court held that a razor is a "deadly weapon" within the meaning of the statute against carrying a concealed deadly weapon.

In **People v. Richardson**, 176, C.A.2d 163, 1 Cal. Rptr. 306 (1959), the defendant was accused of cutting an fellow prisoner with a razor blade. The court held that a razor blade, depending on the circumstances of its use, may be a deadly weapon.

It is submitted that while a razor blade is not a deadly weapon per se, **see French v. State**, 73 Okla.Cr. 141, 118 P.2d 664 (1941), it becomes a deadly weapon when used in a manner likely to produce death or great bodily injury.

Respondent further submits that a razor blade held to a prison guard's throat is a deadly weapon within the meaning of Utah Code Ann. §§76-7-11 and 76-7-12 (Supp. 1967).

The apparent conflict between the appellant's brief and the respondent's brief is over the issue of whether or not there was evidence of the appellant holding a razor blade to Officer Jones' throat. The appellant contends that there was no direct evidence establishing that a razor had been in fact used on Officer Jones. (Appellant's brief pp. 4-5.)

Respondent submits that there was evidence presented from which the jury could find that the appellant held a razor blade to Officer Jones' throat.

Although the record shows that the prosecution moved the court to amend the charge substituting the phrase, "with intent to do great bodily injury" for "with a deadly weapon particularly a razor blade" (T. 84) the motion was withdrawn (T. 93) and the complaint as read to the jury charged the ap-

pellant with assault by a convict with malice aforethought upon a prison guard with a deadly weapon, particularly a razor blade. (R. 42)

## CONCLUSION

The information charges the appellant with assault by a convict with malice aforethought on guard with a deadly weapon, particularly a razor blade. Instruction No. 1 advised the jury that the appellant was charged with assault on a prison guard with malice aforethought by a convict with a deadly weapon, particularly a razor blade. There was sufficient testimony to establish that the appellant held a razor blade to the guard's throat. Respondent submits that the judgment of the trial court should be affirmed.